National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health



National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health

Commissioned by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence

Evidence tables

July 2008

Update information: some sections have been removed as they have been replaced by the October 2021 update. These are marked accordingly.

This updates and replaces the 2001 guideline.



Evidence tables should be read in conjunction with the main guideline.

Published by the **RCOG Press** at the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 27 Sussex Place, Regent's Park, London NW1 4RG

www.rcog.org.uk

Registered charity no. 213280

First published 2008

2nd edition © 2008 National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health

1st edition published in 2001

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means, without the prior written permission of the publisher or, in the case of reprographic reproduction, in accordance with the terms of licences issued by the Copyright Licensing Agency in the UK [www.cla.co.uk]. Enquiries concerning reproduction outside the terms stated here should be sent to the publisher at the UK address printed on this page.

The use of registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant laws and regulations and therefore for general use.

While every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this publication, the publisher can give no guarantee for information about drug dosage and application thereof contained in this book. In every individual case the respective user must check current indications and accuracy by consulting other pharmaceutical literature and following the guidelines laid down by the manufacturers of specific products and the relevant authorities in the country in which they are practising.

ISBN 978-1-904752-48-6

NCC-WCH editor: Andrew Welsh Original design: FiSH Books, London Typesetting of main guideline by Andrew Welsh

Contents

Abbreviations

3	Information and decision making	7
4	Induction of labour in specific circumstances	10
4.1	Prolonged pregnancy	10
4.2	Preterm prelabour rupture of membranes	19
4.4	Previous caesarean birth	21
4.5	Maternal request for induction of labour	25
4.6	Breech presentation	26
4.7	Fetal growth restriction	27
4.9	Intrauterine fetal death	28
5	Methods of induction of labour	30
5.1	Pharmacological-based methods	30
5.2	Non-pharmacological methods	31
5.3	Surgical methods	39
6	Setting and timing for induction of labour	40
7	Monitoring and pain relief for induction of labour	42
7.2	Pain relief during induction of labour	42
8	Complications of induction of labour	44
8.1	Uterine hyperstimulation	44
Refe	erences	45

6

Abbreviations

41 ⁺³ weeks	41 completed weeks plus 3 days of gestation, etc.
ARM	artificial rupture of the membranes
BNF	British National Formulary
CI	confidence interval
CS	caesarean section
EFM	electronic fetal monitoring
EL	evidence level (level of evidence)
FHR	fetal heart rate
GA	gestational age
GDG	Guideline Development Group
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
IMN	isosorbide mononitrate
IUFD	intrauterine fetal death
IV	intravenous
LSCS	lower segment caesarean section
MAD	minimum analgesic dose
NCC-WCH	National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health
NHS	National Health Service
NICE	National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence
NICU	neonatal intensive care unit
NNT	number needed to treat
NS	not significant
OR	odds ratio
РСТ	primary care trust
PG	prostaglandin
PGE ₂	prostaglandin E ₂
$PGF_{2\alpha}$	prostaglandin F_2 alpha
PPIP	Patient and Public Involvement Programme
QALY	quality-adjusted life year
RCOG	Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists
RCT	randomised controlled trial
RR	relative risk
SD	standard deviation
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network
SPC	summary of product characteristics
VE	vaginal examination
WHO	World Health Organization
WMD	weighted mean difference

3 Information and decision making

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Aim of study	Number of patients and patient characteristics	Population characteristics	Outcome measures	Reviewer comments
Shetty (2005) ¹⁶	Study Type: Cohort	To assess women's	Total number of patients = 699	Women undergoing induction	Satisfaction with labour: 70% versus 80%, RR 0.89 (95% CI 0.8 to 0.96)	Funding: Not stated
		actual experience of		of labour at term and those	Perception of pain of labour: more painful 50% versus 56% (NS)	
Country: UK	Evidence Level: 2+	the process of induce	^d Women who laboured	labouring spontaneously.	Complications with labour: more expected 37% versus 37% (NS)	Questionnaire survey,
		labour and their satisfaction with	spontaneously n = 385		Perception of length of labour: longer 33% versus 29% (NS) Satisfaction with information received about induction prior to induction:	likelihood of bias
		lapour.			NA	
			Women undergoing induction of labour at term (with vaginal PGE ₂) <i>n</i> = 31		Aspects women liked to see changed if women were to have another induction All women: 65% Liked to change speed of induction: 40% Fewer vaginal exam: 7% fewer complications: 9%	
Jacoby (1987) ¹⁵	Study Type:	To assess women's	Total number of women = 1920	Women who had recently	Women's preferences over obstetric procedures (preferred not to/hoped in	Source of Funding: MRC
Country: UK	Other	preferences for and satisfaction with		given birth.	would not be necessary Induction by drug: 83%	Response rate 75%
	Evidence Level:	procedures in			Membranes ruptured: 72%	
	3	childbirth.			Epidural: 72%	Retrospective: likelihood of bias in recall
					Women achieving their wishes (those who had wanted it)	subjective data
					Induction by drug: 59%	non-comparative
					Membranes ruptured: 78%	result may not be generalisable
					Epidural: 66%	
					Women achieving their wishes (those who had not wanted it)	
					Induction by drug: 23%	
					Membranes ruptured: 59%	
					Epidural: 11%	
					Women's preferences over the social aspects (wanted the following)	

maaction of labour

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Aim of study	Number of patients and patient characteristics	Population characteristics	Outcome measures	Reviewer comments
					Move freely in first stage of labour: 73%	
					Father present all/some of labour: 90%	
					Father present at delivery: 88%	
					Hold baby as soon as born: 93%	
					Labour/delivery managed as liked	
					Able to move freely: 69% (yes); 45% (no)	
					Baby's father present: 65% (all	
					labour), 49% (part), 51% (not at all)	
					Baby's father present : 64% (at birth), 47% (not at birth)	
					Able to hold baby: 65% (yes), 35% (no)	
					Procedures managed as liked (those who wanted the procedure)	
					Induction by drugs: 59% had it 62% didn't have it	
					Epidural: 54% had it, 59% didn't have it	
					Overall: 18% women whose labours were managed as they liked reported feeling depressed postnatally, 25% of those whose labours were	
					managed as they liked in some ways but not in others, and 30% of those whose labours were not managed as they liked, did so.	
Cartwright (1977) ¹⁴	Study Type: Other	To assess women's' experiences of	Total number of patients = 524	Women who had undergone induction of labour and had a	No clear association between induction and the mother's age and parity	Source of Funding: DHSS
Country	Evidence Level:	pregnancy, labour and birth.		live birth.	Despite being given more pain relief, those induced reported similar intensities of pain during the 1st and 2nd stages of labour to those whose	Retrospective: recall bias
Country. OK	3				labour started spontaneously.	interventional,
					The period they had contractions was shorter for the induced than for	subjective usid
					those starting spontaneously, and the intensity of pain at delivery was rated somewhat less by those who were induced.	study published in 1977.
					Two-fifth of mothers who were induced would have liked more information	
					I wo-tifth of mothers said they had not discussed induction with a doctor, midwife or nurse during pregnancy	
					17% of mothers who had induction said they would prefer to be induced again, 63% of those who had epidural would opt for the same procedures part time	

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Aim of study	Number of patients and patient characteristics	Population characteristics	Outcome measures	Reviewer comments
Stewart (1977)13	Study Type:	To assess women's'	Total number of patients = 137	Women due for induction of	Source of information on induction before this pregnancy	Source of Funding: Not stated
	Other	attitudes towards		labour (24 hours before and	Relatives and friends: 37%	
Country: UK		planned induction of		12 hours after delivery).	Newspaper/TV: 14%	Comments:
	Evidence Level:	labour (amniotomy			Hospital: 5%	non comparative
	3	with oxytocin or			Cannot remember: 1%	subjective data
		oxytocin with delayed			Never heard of induction: 22%	likelihood of bias
		amniotomy).			From previous induction: 25%	may not be generalisable study published 1977
					Opinions on induction before this pregnancy:	
					Would prefer natural labour: 19%	
					Adverse opinions: 1.5%	
					In favour of induction: 2%	
					Accept induction for sake of baby: 13%	
					Thought induction was carried out for the convenience of the hospital:	
					0.7%	
					Frightened: 0.7%	
					Non-committal: 14%	
					Never heard of induction: 22%	
					Women's attitude towards own induction	
					Glad: 66%	
					Accept for baby's sake: 6%	
					Relieved to know outcome: 0.7%	
					Indifferent: 16%	
					Reluctant:11%	
					Women's description of methods of induction	
					Painful: amniotomy (15%), IV infusion (10%)	
					Uncomfortable: amniotomy (53%), IV infusion (54%)	
					Frightening: amniotomy (5%), IV infusion (2%)	
					Indifferent: amniotomy (28%), IV infusion (35%)	

4 Induction of labour in specific circumstances

4.1 **Prolonged pregnancy**

This section was updated and replaced in 2021. Please see the NICE website for the updated guideline.

4.2 **Preterm prelabour rupture of membranes**

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Naef (1998) ⁴⁴	Study Type: Randomised Controlled Trial	Total number of patients = 120	Women with preterm prelabour rupture of membranes between	Induction with IV oxytocin versus	Admission-to-delivery interval (hours): 9.8 (7.8) versus 119 (223) ($P = 0.001$)	Source of Funding: not stated
Country: US	Evidence level: 1++	Induction with IV oxytocin n = 57 conservative management by observation n = 63	34 and 37 weeks of gestation (mixed parity).	conservative management C by observation H C A N S T	Chorioamanionitis: 2% versus 16% ($P = 0.007$) Hospital stay (days): 2.6 (1.6) versus 5.2 (6.8) ($P = 0.006$) CS: 7% versus 5% (NS) Apgar score at 5 minutes: 9.1 (0.9) versus 9.1 (0.7) (NS) NICU admission: 19% versus 24% (NS) Sepsis: 0% versus 5% (NS) Total hospital stay (days): 4.5 (4.9) versus 4.8 (5.1) (NS)	computer-generated randomisation, allocation in sealed opaque envelopes Power calculation All women received antibiotic prophylaxis No tocolytics or corticosteroids given
Haghighi (2006) ⁴⁶	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of patients = 108	Women with preterm prelabour rupture of membranes and	Vaginal misoprostol 25 mg versus	Admission to delivery interval (minutes, mean): 507.68 (248.0) versus 596.66 (246.38) (<i>P</i> < 0.005)	Source of Funding: not stated
Country: Iran	Evidence level: 1+	Vaginal misoprostol 25 mg <i>n</i> = 54 IV oxytocin <i>n</i> = 54	unfavourable cervix at 29 to 36 weeks of gestation.	IV oxytocin.	CS due to failed induction: 9% versus 19% (<i>P</i> < 0.004) Vaginal birth: 83% versus 76% (NS) Apgar score < 7 at 5 minutes (no) : 1 versus 1 (NS)	Sequential sealed envelopes numbered by means of random number tables No power calculation All women received antibiotics and dexamethasone if gestation < 34 weeks
Cox (1995) ⁴³	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of patients = 129	Women with preterm prelabour rupture of membranes at 30 to	Intentional delivery (oxytocin or caesarean birth) versus	Admission to delivery intervals < 24 hours: 97% versus 25% (P < 0.001) CS: 23% versus 12% (NS)	Source of Funding: not stated
Country: US	Evidence Level: 1+	Intentional delivery (oxytocin or caesarean birth) n = 61 Expectant management n = 68	34 weeks of gestation.	expectant management	Chorioamnionitis: 2% versus 15% (<i>P</i> = 0.009) Stillbirth: 0% versus 1.4% (NS) (1 death from E coli sepsis) Neonatal death: 5% (3 deaths: 1 from group B streptococcal sepsis, I from staphylococcus aureus and 1 from pulmonary hypoplasia) versus 0 (NS) Special care nursery stay: 19.9 days versus 19.3 days (NS)	Randomisation using random number tables allocation predetermined and placed in consecutively numbered sealed envelopes. No power calculation. No tocolytics, corticosteroids or prophylactic antibiotics were used during the trial.
	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of patients = 109	Women with preterm prelabour rupture of membranes =	Vaginal misoprostol 50 µg versus	Insertion to delivery (hr, mean): 16.4 ± 10.2 versus $22.0 + - 12.9$ (P = 0.01)	Source of Funding: not stated

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
	Evidence level: 1+	Vaginal misoprostol 50 µg n = 54	34 weeks of gestation (median 36 weeks).	vaginal PGE₂2.5 mg.	Delivery within 12 hours: 41% versus 16% (P = 0.005) Tachysystole: 20% versus 6% (P = 0.02) Uterine hyperstimulation: 9% versus 0% (P = 0.02) CS: 19% versus 26% (NS)	Computer-generated randomisation, allocations placed in consecutively numbered sealed opaque envelopes, power calculation.
		vag PGE₂2.5 mg <i>n</i> = 55				
Mercer (1993)42	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of patients = 93	Women with preterm prelabour rupture of membranes at 32 to	Induction of labour versus expectant management.	Latency from randomisation to delivery (hr, median): 14 versus 36 $(P < 0.001)$	Source of Funding: not stated
Country: US	Evidence level: 1+	Induction of labour <i>n</i> = 46 Expectant management (Expectant management included hospitalisation, assessment of fetal heart rate, chorioamnionitis and labour. Digital cervical examinations were prohibited until progress labour occurred)	36 weeks of gestation.		Maternal hospitalisation (days, median): 2.3 versus 3.5 ($P < 0.001$) Overall chorioamnionitis: 11% versus 28% ($P = 0.06$) CS: 9% versus 6% (NS) Apgar score < 7 at 5 minutes: 0% versus 0% (NS) Neonatal hospital stay (days, median): 6.2 versus 7.3 ($P = 0.09$) Suspected neonatal sepsis: 28% versus 60% ($P = 0.003$) Antimicrobial therapy (neonates): 35% versus 79% ($P = 0.001$)	Computer-generated randomisation Methods of allocation concealment not reported No power calculation

4.4 **Previous caesarean birth**

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Vause (1999)68	Study Type: Systematic review/ meta-analysis	1 RCT (42 women)	Women with a caesarean birth scar undergoing induction of	Vaginal PGE ₂ 2.5 mg followed by amniotomy	1 RCT (see review of individual RCT)	Source of Funding: none
Country: UK, US,	Evidence level: 1	6 Observational	labour.	versus amniotomy + IV oxytocin (1 RCT)	6 observational studies (PGE2 versus comparison group)	
Sweden, Israel		studies (724 women)			No of vaginal births	
				6 observational studies (Blanco 1992, Goldberger 1989, Mackenzie 1988, Norman 1992, Stone 1994, Williams 1995)	Blanco 1992: 17 (81%, 95% CI 58% to 94%) versus 15 (71%, 95% CI 48% to 89%) Goldberger 1989: 18 (74%, 95% CI 51% to 87%) versus 46 (82%, 95% CI 72% to 92%) Mackenzie 1988: 329 (75%, 95% CI 71% to 79%) (no comparison group) Norman 1992: 22 (73%, 95% CI 54% to 88%) (no comparison group) Stone 1994: 60 (64%, 95% CI 54% to 74%) versus 598 (69%, 95% CI 66% to 72%) Williams 1995: 59 (50%, 95% CI 41% to 59%) versus 241 (68%, 95% CI 63% to 73%) Uterine rupture or dehiscence Blanco 1992: 0 versus 0 Goldberger 1989: 0 versus 0 Mackenzie 1988: 1 rupture, 4 dehiscence (no comparison group) Norman 1992: 0 (no comparison group) Stone 1994: 0 (no comparison group) Stone 1994: 0 rupture and 2 dehiscence versus 0	
					Williams 1995:	
McDonagh (2005)67	Study Type: Systematic	2 RCTs (326 women)		Oral mifeoristone 200 mg	U Versus U	
	review/ meta-analysis	2 1013 (020 women)		versus placebo (1 RCT)	compared with spontaneous labour, induction was more likely to result in	

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
	Evidence level: 3	12 Observational studies (39170 women)		Weekly vaginal PGE ₂ versus expectant management (1 RCT, 12 observational studies)	caesarean delivery (20% [range 11–35%] versus 32% [range 18–44%]) Caesarean occurred in 24% (range 18–51%) of spontaneous labour compared with 48% (range 28–51%) of PGE ₂ induction There was a non-significant increase in uterine ruptures among those induced compared with spontaneous labour. There were no maternal deaths. Other maternal complications were infrequently and inadequately reported.	
Dodd (2004) ⁶⁶ Country: US, UK, France	Study Type: Systematic review/ meta-analysis Evidence level: 1++	3 RCTs (112 women)	Women with a previous caesarean birth, undergoing induction of labour.	Vaginal PGE ₂ 2.5 mg followed by amniotomy versus amniotomy + IV oxytocin (1 RCT) Vaginal misoprostol 25 µg 6- hourly versus IV oxytocin (1 RCT) Oral mifepristone 200 mg versus placebo (1 RCT)	Insufficient evidence (refer to review of individual RCT)	Source of Funding: not stated
Dodd (2006) ⁶⁵	Study Type: Systematic review/meta-analysis Evidence level: 1++	No RCT was identified.	Women with previous caesarean birth.	No RCTs was identified		Source of Funding: University of Adelaide, Australia
Rayburn (1999) ⁷² Country: US	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of patients = 294	Women at term who had one previous caesarean birth and unfavourable cervix (Bishop	Weekly PGE ₂ gel 0.5 mg, repeated at weekly office visits for up to three dose	Undelivered at 40 weeks: 34% versus 44% (NS) Undelivered at 41 weeks: 28% versus 24% (NS) Spontaneous vaginal birth: 49% versus 49% (NS)	Source of Funding: Pharmacia & Upjohn Co, Kalamazoo, MI, US
	Evidence level: 1+	Weekly PGE ₂ gel 0.5 mg, repeated at weekly office visits for up to three dose n = 143	score < 6).	versus expectant management.	instrumental vaginal birth: 8% versus 6% (NS) CS: 43% versus 45% (NS) Uterine hyperstimulation: 0.7% versus versus 0% (NS) Uterine rupture: 0% versus 0% (NS) Mternal nausea and vomiting: 1.4% versus 1.3% (NS)	Computer-generated randomisation Blind to investigators
		Expectant management <i>n</i> = 151				Power calculation
Wing (1998) ⁷¹ Country: US	Study Type: Randomised Controlled Trial	Total number of patients = 38 vaginal misoprostol	women with a prior CS requiring induction of labour	vaginal misoprostol 25 µg 6- hourly (maximum 4 doses) vs	Uterine rupture : 12% vs 0% (RR 6.11, 95% CI 0.31 to 119.33) Apgar score < 7 at 5 minutes: 6% versus 0% (NS) Neonatal intensive care admission: 35% vs 19% (NS)	Source of Funding: not reported

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
	Evidence Level: 1-	25 µg at 6hourly interval (maximum 4 doses)		IV oxytocin		Method of randomisation and power calculation not reported
		n = 17 IV oxytocin n = 21				The trial was stopped because of safety concerns
Taylor (1993)70	Study Type: Randomised	Total number of	Women with a previous	Vaginal PGE ₂ 2.5 mg	Induction to delivery interval (hr): 10.8 (4.2) versus 8.9 (2.4) (NS)	Source of Funding: Not
Country: UK		patients – 42	induction of labour because of	tollowed by amniotomy vs	Spontaneous vaginal birth: 57% versus 52% (NS) Operative vaginal birth: 24% versus 19% 1 33 (95% CI 0 30 to 5 84)	reported
oounity. or	Evidence level: 1+	Vaginal PGE ₂ 2.5 mg	prolonged pregnancy or pre-		CS: 19% versus 29%, OR 0.59 (95% CI 0.14 to 2.49)	Randomisation using a
		followed by amniotomy n = 21	y eclampsia (Bishop score < 9).		Epidural usage: 81% versus 57%, OR 3.19 (95% CI 0.79 to 12.80) Apgar score < 7 at 5 minutes: 0 versus 0 (NS)	predetermined code contained in sealed envelopes.
		Amniotomy + IV oxytocin n = 21			Repeat CS: $0/4$ versus $5/6$ ($P < 0.05$)	No power calculation.
Chilaka (2004) ⁶⁰	Study Type: Non comparative case series Evidence level: 3	To determine the risk of uterine rupture.	Total number of women = 130	Women with a previous caesarean section undergoing induction of labour with PGE ₂ .	Spontaneous vaginal delivery: 65/130 (50%) Instrumental vaginal delivery: 14/130 (11%) CS: 51/130 (39%) Admission to NICU: 6/130 Neonatal death: 0	
	Chudu Turnou	To optimate the risk of	Total number of warman = 205	Warnan with and provide	Suspected uterine rupture: 2 cases, not confirmed	
Rayani (2005) ⁵¹	case series review of	uterine rupture or	Total number of women - 205	caesarean section	PGE ₂ : 47%	
	hospital delivery records	ords dehiscence.		undergoing induction of	PGE ₂ + oxytocin: 38.5%	
				labour (vaginal PGE ₂ n = 97;	ARM only: 73%	
	Evidence level: 3				ARM + oxytocin: 62%	
				PGE_2 + oxytocin <i>n</i> = 52;		
				$\Delta RM p = 11$	Instrumental vaginal delivery:	
				$r_{\rm AAW} = 11,$	PGE ₂ : 10%	
				ARM + oxytocin n = 45	ABM only: 0	
					ARM + oxytocin: 13.5%	
					CS:	
					PGE ₂ : 43%	
					PGE ₂ + oxytocin: 46%	

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
					ARM only: 27%	
					ARM + oxytocin: 24.5%	
					Uterine dehiscence:	
					PGE ₂ : 0	
					PGE ₂ + oxytocin: 0	
					ARM only: 0	
					ARM + oxytocin: 2%	
					Uterine rupture:	
					PGE ₂ : 1%	
					PGE ₂ + oxytocin: 4%	
					ARM only: 0	
					ARM + oxytocin: 2%	
					Adverse neonatal outcomes (seizures, death, admission to NICU, Apgar	
					score < 7 at 5 minutes)	
					PGE ₂ : 0	
					PGE ₂ + oxytocin: 1	
					ARM only: 2	
					ARM + oxytocin: 1	
Grobman (2007) ⁶⁴	Study Type: Cohort	To compare	Total number of women =	Women with one previous	In women with no prior vaginal delivery	Funding: National Institute of
Country: US	Evidence level: 2+	pregnancy outcomes after induction with	11 778	caesarean birth undergoing induction of labour.	Vaginal birth: induced vs apontaneous labour 51% versus 64.7% (OR 0.57, 95% Cl 0.51 to 0.63)	Child Health , US
		pregnancy outcomes	With with no prior vaginal		Uterine rupture: induced vs apontaneous labour	
		after spontaneous	delivery (<i>n</i> = 6132)		1.5% vs 0.8% (OR 1.84, 95% CI 1.11 to 3.05)	
		labour.			Uterine rupture: induced with PGE ₂ :0%	
			With with prior vaginal delivery		Uterine rupture: induced with oxy: 1.8%	
			(<i>n</i> = 5646)		Uterine rupture: induced with oxy + PGE ₂ : 1.2%	
					prior vaginal delivery	
					Vaginal birth: induced vs apontaneous labour	
					83.3% versus 88.3% (OR 0.66, 95% CI 0.56 to 0.78)	
					Uterine rupture: induced vs apontaneous labour	
					0.6% vs 0.4% (OR 1.39, 95% 0.62 to 3.13)	
					Uterine rupture: induced with PGE ₂ :0%	
					Uterine rupture: induced with oxy: 0.6%	
				-	Uterine rupture: induced with oxy + PGE ₂ : 0.5%	

4.5	Maternal re	quest for induction of labour	
-----	-------------	-------------------------------	--

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Cole (1975) ⁸⁰	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of women = 228	pregnant women at 39– 40 weeks of gestation (mixed	elective induction of labour (forewater amniotomy	Spontaneous birth: 65% versus 70% (NS) Forceps births: 31% versus 22% (NS)	Source of Funding: not stated
Country: UK	Evidence level: 1+	Elective induction of labour (forewater	panty)	expectant management	Mean length of labour (hrs): 6.4 (3.1) versus 7.0 (3.4) (NS) Mean dose of pethidine (mg): 157 versus 155 (NS)	power calculation not reported.
		amniotomy followed by IV oxytocin) n = 111			Number of epidurals: 22 versus 14 (NS) Mean blood loss after vaginal birth (ml): 185 (139) versus 233 (150) ($P = 0.05$)	
		Expectant management n = 117				
Breart (1982) ⁷⁹	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of women = 716	Women with low risk pregnancy at 37–39 weeks of gestation (no	Elective induction of labour (oxytocin and AROM) vs	CS: 4% versus 7% (NS)	Source of Funding: not reported
Country: France	Evidence Level: 1+	Elective induction of labour (oxytocin and AROM) <i>n</i> = 481	indication or contraindication for induction of labour).	expectant management (fetal heart rate checking and amnioscopy every 2–3 days)	Assisted vaginal births: 26% versus 15%, RR 1.74 (95% CI 1.24 to 2.45)	Randomised, allocation using envelopes (2:1 allocation) Power calculation not clear
		expectant management (fetal heart rate checking and amnioscopy every 2-3 days) n = 235				36% of the intervention group and 86% of the control group followed the trial protocol.

4.6 Breech presentation

Bibliographic Information	Study type and evidence level	Aim of study	Number of patients and patient characteristics	Population characteristics	Outcome measures	Reviewer comments
Rojansky (2001) ⁸⁶	Study Type: Case–control Study	To assess effects of breech induction.	Total number of women = 175	Women with breech presentation.	Vaginal birth: 66% versus 68% versus 0% (NS) CS: 34% versus 32% versus 100% (NS)	Funding: not stated
Country: Israel	Evidence level: 2-				Apgar score < $7:0\%$ versus < 1% versus 0% (NS)	
Fait (1998) ⁸⁵	Study Type: retrospective matched- paired study	Assess the effects of breech induction.	Total number of women = 69 Breech induction (extra-amniotic saline and concomitant oxytocin) n = 23	Women with breech presentation.	Vaginal birth: 52% verus 83%, OR 0.23 (95% CI 0.07 to 0.8) Caesarean birth rate: 48% versus 17%, OR 4.3 (95% CI 1.3 to 15.6) Rates of Apgar score, birth trauma and maternal morbidity were similar in the groups.	
			Vertex induction n = 46			

4.7 Fetal growth restriction

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Van den Hove	Study Type: Randomised	Total number of	Women with fetal growth	Induction of labour (PGE2 gel	Obstetric interventions (spontaneous birth, forceps, vacuum, CS): 25%	Source of Funding: not
(2006) ⁵⁹	controlled trial	patients = 33	restriction at term.	for cervical priming and amniotomy and IV oxytocin)	versus 24% (NS)	reported
Country: The Netherlands	Evidence level: 1+	induction of labour <i>n</i> = 16		versus expectant management.	Neonatal morbidity: 50% versus 35% (NS)	Allocation by statistician at random and put in consecutively numbered
		Expectant management n = 17				envelopes. No power calculation.

4.9 Intrauterine fetal death

This section was partially updated and replaced in 2021 (intrauterine fetal death after previous caesarean birth). Please see the NICE website for the updated guideline.

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Irion (1998) ¹⁰⁷ Country: Israel, US	Study Type: Systematic review/meta-analysis Evidence level: 1++	2 RCTs (313 women)	Non-diabetic women with suspected fetal macrosomia,for induction of labour.	Induction of labour (with prostaglandins and IV oxytocin) versus expectant management.	Induction of labour versus expectant management (2 RCTs) Caesarean birth: 22/153 versus 38/160, RR 0.88 (95% CI 0.59 to 1.34) Instrumental birth: 17/153 versus 18/160, RR 0.98 (95% CI 0.53 to 1.82) Spontaneous birth: 104/153 versus 104/160, RR 1.05 (95% CI 0.89 to 1.22) Third and fourth degree perineal tear: 0 Mean birthweight: WMD -61.44 (95% CI -132.00 to 11.12) Low Apgar score (5 minutes): 0 Shoulder dystocia: 9/153 versus 9/160, RR 1.06 (95% CI 0.44 to 2.56) Brachial plexus injury: 0/153 versus 2/160, RR 0.21 (95% CI 0.01 to 4.28) Fracture (any): 0/153 versus 4/160, RR 0.12 (95% CI 0.01 to 2.12) Admission to neonatal intensive care unit: 0 Intracranial haemorrhage: 3/63 versus 2/52, RR 1.06 (95% CI 0.19 to 5.96) Convulsions: 0 Perinatal mortality: 0	Source of Funding: University of Geneva
Cabrol (1990) ⁹⁰ Country: France and South Africa	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial Evidence level: 1+	Mifepristone 600 mg (200 mg three times a day) for 2 days n = 48 Placebo for 2 days n = 46	Women (mean age between 27.8–28.9 years) with a gestational age> 16 weeks (mean 197– 199 days of amenorrhea) and absence of signs of inminent labor based in obstetric and gynecology departments.	Mifepristone 600 mg (200 mg three times a day) for 2 days versus placebo.	Labour within 72 hours: 63% versus 17.4% (<i>P</i> < 0.001) Uterine bleeding: 3/46 vs 0 Nausea and vomiting: 2/46 vs 0	Source of Funding: One author associated with Roussel Uclaf Sample size calculation attempted, reported double- blind but not clear who was blind. Randomisation obtained by the method of random permutations. Allocation concealment unclear Two women from the Mifepristone group were excluded after randomisation.
Sanchez-Ramos (2002) ¹⁰⁸	Study Type: Systematic review/meta-analysis	2 RCTs, 9 observational studies.	Women with suspected fetal macrosomia.	Expectant management versus induction of labour.	<u>2 RCTs</u> CS: OR 1.17 (95% CI 0.69 to 2.01)	Source of Funding: Not stated.

Spontaneous vaginal birth: OR 0.90 (95% CI 0.54 to 1.48)

28

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Country: US, Europe	Evidence level: 2+				Operative vaginal birth: OR 1.02 (95% CI 0.50 to 2.08)	
					Rate of shoulder dystocia: OR 0.93 (95% CI 0.35 to 2.46)	
					9 Observational studies	
					CS: OR 0.39 (95% CI 0.30 to 0.50)	
					Spontaneous vaginal birth: OR 2.07 (95% CI 1.34 to 3.19)	
					Operative vaginal birth: OR 0.89 (95% CI 0.68 to 1.17)	
					Rate of shoulder dystocia: OR 0.81 (95% CI 0.50 to 1.31)	

5 Methods of induction of labour

5.1 Pharmacological-based methods

This section was updated and replaced in 2021. Please see the NICE website for the updated guideline.

5.2 Non-pharmacological methods

This section was partially updated (non-pharmacological methods, except membrane-sweeping) and replaced in 2021. Please see the NICE website for the updated guideline.

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Boulvain (2005) ¹⁴⁶	Study Type: Systematic review/ meta-analysis	27 097 women (22 RCTs)	Women from 37- = 40 weeks GA	Membrane sweeping versus no treatment (19 RCTs)	Membrane sweeping versus no treatment (for all women) Formal induction of labour: (12 RCTs): RR 0.60 (95% CI 0.51 to 0.71)	Source of Funding: University of Geneva
Canada, India, Thailand, China	Evidence level: 1++		Bishop score (from closed cervix to >/=6)	Women at 37–40 weeks GA (13 RCTs)	Reduced frequency of pregnancy beyond 41 weeks (6 RCTs): RR 0.59 (95% CI 0.46 to 0.74)	
			Mixed parity	=40 weeks GA (6 RCTs)	Reduced frequency of pregnancy beyond 42 weeks (6 RCTs): RR 0.28 (95% CI 0.15 to 0.50) NNT to avoid on formal induction of labour: 8	
			Mixed case load	Membrane sweeping versus prostaglandins (3 RCTs)	Perinatal death: *2/401 versus **2/399 RR 1.0 (95% CI 0.20 to 4.88)	
				=40 weeks GA	 * congenital heart defect, stillbirth: meconium-stained liquor ** congenital heart defect, double nuchal cord Serious maternal death (6 RCTs): 0 	
				Membrane sweeping versus oxytocin (1 RCT)	Oxytocin augmentation (3RCTs): RR 0.96 (95% CI 0.80 to 1.14) Epidural usage (6 RCTs): RR 1.08 (95% CI 0.94 to 1.23)	
				Sweeping frequency	Instrumental delivery (14 RCTs): RR 1.15 95% (CI 0.94 to 1.42) PPH(3 RCTs): RR 0.31 (95% CI 0.11 to 0.89) Prelabour rupture of membranes (10 RCTs): RR 1.14 (95% CI 0.89 to	
				Weekly sweeping (7 RCTs)	1.45) Matemal infection/fever (11 RCTs): RR 1.05 (95% CI 0.68 to 1.65)	
				Sweeping every 3 days (1 RCT)	Neonatal infection (6 RCTs): RR 0.92 (95% CI 0.0 to 2.82) Meconium-stained liquor (2 RCTs) : RR 0.67 (95% CI 0.33 to 1.35) Appar score < 7 at 5 minutes (8 RCTs): RR 1 13 (95% CI 0.53 to 2.43)	
				Daily sweeping (2 RCTs)	Admission to NICU (7 RCTs): RR 0.92 (95% CI 0.52 to 1.63) Pain and discomfort reported (2RCTs): RR 2.83 (95% CI 2.03 to 3.96)	
				Sweeping frequency not reported (12 RCTs)	Sig higher median score (pain index and visual analogue scale) 70% reported that membrane sweeping associated with sig discomfort and pain	
		-			Vaginal bleeding (3 RCTs): RR 1.75, (95% Cl 1.08 to 2.83) Membrane sweeping versus prostaglandins	

CS 3 RCTs): RR 0.70 (95% CI 0.44 to 1.10) Oxytocin augmentation (1 RCT): RR 0.83 (95% CI 0.50 to 1.36) Instrumental vaginal birth (3 RCTs): RR 1.67 (95% CI 0.81 to 3.46)

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
					Meconium-stained liquor (1 RCT): RR 1.37 (95% CI 0.61 to 3.10)	
					Apgar score < 7 at 5 minutes (3 RCTs): RR 0.83 (95% CI 0.14 to 4.92)	
					NICU admission (3 RCTs): RR 0.37 (95% CI 0.12 to 1.17)	
					PPH (1 RCT): 0	
					Not delivered before 42 weeks (2 RCTs):	
					RR 0.50 (95% CI 0.25 to 1.02)	
					Membrane sweeping versus oxytocin	
					CS (1 RCT): RR 0.69 (95% CI 0.12 to 3.85)	
					Formal induction of labour (1 RCT): RR 0.51 (95% CI 0.05 to 5.42)	
					In women with an unfavourable cervix	_
					Sweeping versus no treatment	
					Requiring formal induction of labour (3 RCTs): RR 0.51 (95% CI 0.37	
					to 0.71)	
					Caesarean births (3 RCTs): RR 0.98 (95% CI 0.49 to 1.95)	
					Instrumental vaginal delivery (2 RCTs): RR 0.87 (95% CI 0.33 to 2.24)	
					5 minute Apgar score < 7 (1 RCT): RR 0.97 (95% CI 0.06 to 4.85)	
					Neonatal intensive care unit admission (1 RCT): RR 0.97 (95% CI 0.15 to 6.47)	
					Serious maternal or neonatal morbidity/perinatal death (1 RCT): 0	
					Maternal infection (1 RCT): RR 0.11 (95% CI 0.01 to 1.93)	
					Prelabour rupture of membranes: (1 RCT): RR 2.00 (95% CI 0.39 to 10.22)	
					Epidural analgesia (1 RCT): RR 0.70 (95% CI 0.42 to 1.18)	
					Membrane sweeping versus vaginal prostaglandins	
					Not delivered before 42 weeks (2 RCTs): RR 0.50 (95% CI 0.25 to 1.02)	
					Caesarean births (2 RCTs): RR 0.67 (95% CI 0.41 to 1.08)	
					Instrumental vaginal delivery (2 RCTs): RR 1.10 (95% CI 0.48 to 2.50)	
					5 minute Apgar score < 7 (1 RCT): RR 0.33 (95% CI 0.01 to 7.91)	
					Neonatal intensive care unit admission (2 RCTs): RR 0.38 (95%	
					UIU.IU.UI.30)	
					to 1.62)	
					Prelabour rupture of membranes (1 RCT): RR 0.57 (95% CI 0.18 to	
					1.78)	

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
					<u>Membrane sweeping versus oxytocin</u> Requiring 'formal' induction of labour (1 RCT): RR 0.51 (95% CI 0.05 to 5.42) Caesarean birth (1 RCT): RR 0.69 (95% CI 0.12 to 3.85)	
Allot (1993) ¹⁵⁶ Country: UK Study included in SR ¹⁴⁶	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial Evidence Level: 1+	195 women	Low-risk pregnancy beyond 40 weeks (confirmed by US) Primigravida Membrane sweeping: 43% VE: 46% Bishop's score (BS) ≤ 6 Membrane sweeping: 44% VE: 44% ≥ 7 Membrane sweeping: 56% VE: 56% Exclusion: closed cervix	Membrane sweeping (<i>n</i> = 99) versus vaginal exam (VE) (<i>n</i> = 96) Frequency of sweeping: not reported	Not delivered within 48 hours: 47% versus 76%, RR 0.62 (95% Cl 0.49 to 0.79) Formal induction of labour required: 8% versus 19% ($P = 0.035$) Caesarean section: 5.3% versus 4%, RR 0.78 (95% Cl 0.21 to 2.80) Instrumental vaginal delivery: 11% versus 12%, RR 0.89 (95% Cl 0.41 to 1.92) Epidural in labour: 19% versus 21%, RR 0.92 (95% Cl 0.53 to 1.62) Maternal pyrexia: 1% versus 1%, RR 0.97 (95% Cl 0.06 to 15.28) Apgar score < 7 at 5 minutes: 0% versus 0% Serious neonatal infection: 0% versus 1% Cumulative proportions of spontaneous labour within 3 days: All women: 65% versus 31% ($P = 0.0001$) Primig: 61% versus 31% ($P = 0.0021$) Multip: 68% versus 31% ($P = 0.0001$) High BS: 60% versus 39% ($P = 0.004$) Primig + low BS: 69% versus 13% ($P = 0.0022$) Primig + high BS: 56% versus 41% ($P = 0.2023$)	Computer randomisation: assignment in sealed envelopes, power calculation Bishop's score ≤ 6: low Bishop's score: ≥ 7: high Women's views on sweeping: Not reported Funding: not stated
EI-Torkey (1992) ¹⁵⁷	Study Type: Randomised	65 women	Women with pregnancy between 41–42 weeks GA	Membrane sweeping (<i>n</i> = 33)	Multip + high BS: 63% versus 36% ($P = 0.03$) Spontaneous labour (self-admission to hospital with regular contractions occurring \geq twice in 10 minutes): 76% versus 37%,	Randomisation by random permuted blocks, codes placed in
Country: UK	controlled trial		Primigravida	versus no sweeping (n = 32)	OR 4.65 (95% CI 1.85 to 12.31) In sweeping group:	opaque sealed envelopes, power calculation
Study included in SR ¹⁴⁶	Evidence Level: 1+		Membrane sweeping: 51% Control: 44%	6 women in sweeping group required cervical massage due to unfavourable cervix.	89% had spontaneous labour (44% within 24 hours, 72% within 48 hours and	Funding: not stated
			Cervix > 4 cm at first exam:		84% within 72 hours) versus 17% of women with unfavourable cervix	Trial stopped early because of
			Sweeping 49% No sweping 16% (<i>P</i> = 0.005)	Frequency of sweeping not reported.	had spontaneous labour Cervical dilation ≥ 4 cm at first exam: 48% versus 16%, OR 4.39 (95% Cl 1.56 to 12.32)	high % of women achieving spontaneous labour.
					Pyrexia in labour/puerperium, requiring antibiotics: 0% versus 12%, OR 0.12 (95% CI 0.02 to 0.88)	

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
					Analgesia use/Modes of delivery/Neonatal outcomes: Similar in the two groups Serous infection: None Perinatal death: None Women's views on sweeping: Not reported	
Boulvain (1998) ¹⁵⁴ Country: Canada	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	200 women	Women with non-urgent medical indications for induction of labour (85% post-term: ≥ 287 days GA;	Membrane sweeping (<i>n</i> = 99) versus vaginal exam (VE) (<i>n</i> = 99)	Duration of labour (hour): 8.7 versus 8.8 (NS) Formal induction of labour required: 49% versus 59%, RR 0.83 (95% Cl 0.64 to 1.07) Epidural use: 75 versus 69 (NS)	Computer randomisation, in blocks of six and eight, stratified by hospital
Study included in SR ¹⁴⁶	Evidence Level: 1+		3.5% hypertension, 2.5% diabetes, 1.5% fetal growth restriction, 6.5% others: ≥ 266 days GA) GA confirmed by last menstrual period and US Nulliparous: Membrane sweeping: 58% Control: 50% Bishop's score: < 6: Membrane sweeping: 46% Control: 51%	Frequency of sweeping not reported.	Caesarean section: 12 versus 12 (NS) Forceps/vacuum: 36 versus 27 (NS) Maternal pyrexia: 8 versus 8 (NS) Apgar score < 7 at 5 minutes: 3 versus 0 (NS) Neonatal infection: 1 versus 1 (NS) Admission to NICU: 6 versus 6 (NS) Pain (VAS) during VE: 2.4 versus 1.5 ($P = 0.001$) Bleeding before onset of labour: 45% versus 26% ($P = 0.02$) Recommended sweeping to friends: 87% Advantages more superior to disadvantages: 77% Sweeping as useless: 9% Unpleasant: 31% Painful: 22%	Assignment in opaque sealed envelopes Power calculation Included pregnancies with medical complications Funding: Health Canada, Astra Pharma, MRC
Magann (1998) ¹⁵³ Country: US	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial Evidence level: 1+	Total number of women = 105 Daily membrane sweeping n = 35 Daily PGE ₂ gel n = 35 Daily cervical examination n = 35	Women at 41 weeks of gestation, mean Bishop score < 3.	Daily membrane sweeping versus daily PGE ₂ gel versus daily cervical examination.	Sweeping vs PGE ₂ vs control Induction at 42 weeks: 17% versus 20% versus 63% ($P < 0.0001$) Duration of labour: 10.1 (6.1) hr versus 14.2 (6.0) hr versus 20 (7.0) hr($P < 0.05$) Bishop score on admission to labour ward: versus control ($P < 0.001$) (no data) spontaneous vaginal birth: 26 versus 24 versus 25 (NS) instrumental birth: 4 versus 3 versus 5 (NS) CS: 5 versus 8 versus 5 (NS) 5 minute Apgar score at < 7:0 versus 1 versus 1 (NS) Admission to well-baby nursery: 33 versus 32 versus 35 (NS)	Source of Funding: Vicksburg Hospital Medical Foundation Randomisation using random number table, allocation in a series of sealed opaque envelopes, power calculation.
Magann (1999) ¹⁵²	Study Type:	Total number of	Women of mixed parity at	Daily membrane sweeping	Bishop score on admission to labour ward: 8.56 (2.50) versus 6.63	Source of Funding: Vicksburg

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Country: US	Randomised controlled trial Evidence level: 1+	women = 182 Daily membrane sweeping n = 91 Daily placement of a dinoprostol vaginal suppository n = 91	41 weeks of gestation, mean Bishop score < 3.	versus daily placement of a dinoprostol vaginal suppository.	$\begin{array}{l} (2.55) \ (P < 0.001) \\ \mbox{Mean admission to delivery interval (hr) : 10.8 (6.9) versus 13.1 (6.7) } \\ (P = 0.01) \\ \mbox{Spontaneous vaginal birth: 74% versus 65% (NS) } \\ \mbox{Instrumental birth: 8% versus 8% (NS) } \\ \mbox{CS: 19% versus 27% (NS) } \\ \mbox{5 minute Apgar score < 7: 0 versus 0 } \\ \mbox{NICU admission: 1 versus 5 (NS) } \\ \mbox{Induction at 42 weeks: 9% versus 14% (P = 0.041) } \end{array}$	Hospital Medical Foundation Randomisation using table of random numbers allocation in sealed opaque envelopes, power calculation.
Wiriyasirivaj (1996) ¹⁴⁹ Country: Thailand	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial Evidence level: 1+	Total number of women = 120 Weekly membrane sweeping n = 61 Weekly gentle pelvic examination n = 59	Women at 38 weeks of gestation mean Bishop score < 3	Weekly membrane sweeping versus weekly gentle pelvic examination.	Delivery within 7 days of first pelvic exam: 41% versus 20% (<i>P</i> = 0.014) Oxytocin use: 44% versus 44% (NS) Spontaneous vaginal birth: 74% versus 76% (NS) Instrumental vaginal birth: 16% versus 19% (NS) CS: 10% versus 5% (NS) 5 minute Apgar < 7: 9.9 (0.2) versus 9.9 (0.1) (NS) Pastpartum fever: 2% versus 0% (NS) Postpartum haem: 3% versus 3% (NS)	Source of Funding: Not stated Randomisation using table of random numbers, allocation kept in sealed black opaque envelope, no pwer calculation.
Magann (1998) ¹⁵⁰ Country: US	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial Evidence level: 1+	Total number of women = 65 Membrane sweeping every 3 days n = 33 Gentle vaginal examination every 3 days n = 32	Women of mixed parity at 39 weeks of gestation, median Bishop score < 3.	Membrane sweeping every 3 days versus gentle vaginal examination every 3 days.	Bishop score at delivery ≥ 8: 19 versus 6 (<i>P</i> = 0.0002) Induction at 42 weeks: 0 versus 18 (<i>P</i> < 0.0001) Vaginal birth: 29 versus 27 (NS) CS: 4 versus versus 5 (NS) NICU: 2 versus 2 (NS)	Source of Funding: Not stated Randomisation using random number table, allocation in consecutive series of sealed apaque envelopes, power calculation.
Berghella (1996) ¹⁴⁸ Country: US	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial Evidence level: 1+	Total number of women = 142 Weekly membrane sweeping <i>n</i> = 73	Women = 38 weeks of gestation, mean Bishop score < 4.	Weekly membrane sweeping versus weekly gentle cervical examination.	Days to delivery: 8.2 (6.3) versus 12.1(7.1) ($P < 0.002$) Spontaneous vaginal birth: 90% versus 86% (NS) Instrumental birth: 10% versus 10% (NS) CS: 0% versus 4% (NS) Days to delivery in women with Bishop score \leq 3: 8.6 (6.4) ($n =$ 39) versus 12.5 (6.8) ($P < 0.02$) ($n =$ 44) Days to delivery in women with Bishop score > 3: 6.5 (5.4) ($n =$ 34)	Source of Funding: not stated Computer-generated randomisation Allocation in sealed opaque envelops Power calculation

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
		Weekly gentle cervical examination <i>n</i> = 69			versus 11.5 (8.2) (NS) ($n = 25$) Days to delivery in nulliparous women: 7.8 (6.0) ($n = 35$) versus 12.9 (6.6) ($P < 0.009$) ($n = 43$) Days to delivery in multiparous women: 7.2 (5.9) ($n = 38$) versus 11.0 (7.9) (NS) (26)	
Cammu (1998) ¹⁴⁷ Country: Belgium	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of women = 278	Nulliparous women with uncomplicated pregnancies, 39 completed weeks of	Weekly membrane sweeping versus normal digital examination.	Randomisation to delivery interval: 9.4 days versus 10.6 days (NS) Spontaneous labour: 51% versus 42% (NS) Induced labour: 11% versus 26%, OR 0.34 (95% CI 0.18 to 0.66)	Source of Funding: Not stated Computer-generaterd
	Evidence level: 1+	Weekly membrane sweeping n = 140 Normal digital examination n = 139	gestation, mean Bishop score < 4.		Epidural: 38% versus 38% (NS) Instrumental birth: 16% versus 13% (NS) CS: 4% versus 6% (NS) 5 minute Apgar score: 3 versus 7 (NS)	randomisation, allocation in sealed numbered envelopes, opened after entry to trial, power calculation.
Dare (2002) ¹⁵⁵ Country: Nigeria	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial Evidence level: 1+	Total number of women = 137 Membrane sweeping n = 69 Control (gentle cervical examination) n = 68	Women at 38 weeks of gestation, mean Bishop score > 4.	Membrane sweeping versus gentle cervical examination.	Mean time to delivery (days): 4.8 (0.9) versus 12.1 (1.4) ($P < 0.001$) Spontaneous vaginal birth: 68% versus 65% (NS) Instrumental vagial birth: 23% versus 16% (NS) CS: 9% versus 19% ($P = 0.09$) CS due to acute fetal distress: 2 versus 8 ($P = 0.055$) CS due to non-progress of labour: 4 versus 5 (NS) Maternal discomfort during vaginal exam: 66% versus 21% ($P < 0.001$) Prelabour rupture of membranes: 11% versus 9% (NS) Intrapartum chorioamnionitis: 2 versus 1 (NS) 5 minute Apgar < 7: 2 versus 1 (NS) NICU admission: 13% versus 16% (NS) Vaginal bleeding: 3% reported in sweeping group	Source of Funding: Not stated Computer-generated randomisation, allocation in numbered opaque sealed envelope drawn in consecutive order, power calculation.
de ME (2006) ¹⁵¹	Study Type: Randomised Controlled Trial	Total number of patients = 742	Low-risk pregnant women at 41 weeks GA	Membrane sweeping every 48 hours versus	Outcomes at 5 Days: Post term pregnancy in nulliparous and multiparous women: 23% versus 41% (RR 0.57, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.71)	Source of Funding: ZONMw
Country: The Netherlands	Evidence Level: 1+	Sweeping <i>n</i> = 375 Control <i>n</i> = 367	Nulliparity: 53% Bishop scores: < 6: 38% ≥ 6: 11%	routine monitoring	Spontaneous onset of labour >42 weeks: 9% versus 14% (RR 0.59, 95% Cl 0.39 to 0.89) Induction of labour in parous women: 15% versus 27% (RR 0.57, 95% Cl 0.37 to 0.86) Induction of labour in nulliparous women: 29% versus 31% (RR 0.92, 95% Cl 0.68 to 1.25) Mode of delivery: spontaneous: 76% versus 76% (NS) Mode of delivery: instrumental: 15% versus 14% (NS)	within consecutively numbered opaque sealed envelopes Power calculation

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
					Mode of delivery: CS: 10% versus 10% (NS) Fever during labour: = 38° C: 7/375 versus 3/367 Analgesia use: epidural: 5% versus 4% (NS) Analgesia: Pethidine: 13% versus 12% (NS)	
Smith (2004) ¹⁵⁹	Study Type: Systematic review/meta-analysis Evidence level: 1++	Total number of women = 56	1 RCT, 56 women with uncomplicated singleton pregnancies, Bishop score < 5, mixed parity.	Acupuncture every two days versus no acupuncture.	No outcomes provided on these women.	Source of Funding: University of Adelaide, Australia 20% drop out rate, imbalance in post randomisation exclusions (5 in acupuncture group, 8 in control group).
						Overall, no meaningful outcomes for interpretation
Harper (2006) ¹⁶⁰	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial Evidence level: 1+	Total number of women = 56	Nulliparous women >/=39 weeks GA with singleton pregnancy, median Bishop score 4.	• Outpatient acupuncture treatment + usual medical care versus usual medical care (not specified).	Time to delivery (hours) from enrolment:: 124 (SD 86.7) versus 145 (SD 82.7) (NS) Spontaneous labour:70% versus 50%, OR 2.33 (95% CI 0.78 to 6.98) Caesarean births: 17% versus 39%. OR 3.13 (95% CI 0.99 to 10.8) 5 minuteute Apgar score: NS Admission to NICU: NS	Source of Funding: Bowes Cefalo Young Researcher Award Computer generated randomisation in equal blocks of two and four.
						Group assignment in numbered sealed envelopes opened by principle investigator, care providers and patients not blind.
	Study Type: Total number of 1 Systematic women = 133 4 review/meta-analysis 4 Evidence level: 1++ 5	 133 women with GA 36– 42 weeks (2 RCTs) 40 women with cervical score ≤ 4 cm and prelabour rupture of membranes (1 RCT) (in German) 	Homeopathy (herb Caulophyllum) versus placebo.	Vaginal delivery within 24 hours: 1 versus 0, RR 5.0, (95% CI 0.26 to 98.00) Caesarean births: 2 versus 0, RR 5.0 (95% CI 0.26 to 98.00) Uterine hyperstimulation: No data Serous maternal morbidity (postpartum haem, admission to intensive care, septicaemia): No data Serious neonatal morbidity (Apgar score, NICU admission): No data	Source of Funding: University of Adelaide, Australia	
			No information from the other RCT (in French)		Oxytocin augmentation: 9 versus 9, RR 1.0 (95% CI 0.50 to 1.98) Instrumental delivery: RR 1.0 (95% CI 0.54 to 1.86 Vaginal delivery within 24 hours: RR 0.33 (95% CI 0.01 to 7.72) Report of difficult labour (1 RCT): 6 versus 16, RR 0.28, (95% CI 0.12 to 0.66) Caesarean births: 2 versus 0, RR 5.0, (95% CI 0.26 to 98.00)	

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
					Uterine hyperstimulation: No data Serious maternal morbidity (postpartum haem, admission to intensive care, septicaemia): No data Serious neonatal morbidity (Apgar score, NICU admission): No data Oxytocin augmentation: 9 versus 9, RR 1.0 (95% CI 0.50 to 1.98) Instrumental delivery: RR 1.0 (95% CI 0.54 to 1.86) Mean length of labour (1RCT): 5.1 hours versus 8.48 hours ($P < 0.001$) Report of difficult labour (1RCT): 11.3% versus 40%, RR 0.28 (95% CI 0.12 to 0.66)	
Kelly (2001) ¹⁶³	Study Type: Systematic review/meta-analysis Evidence level: 1++	Total number of women = 103	1 quasi-RCT, 103 women with singleton pregnancy requiring induction of labour, intact membranes, Bishop score < 4. Parity unknown	Castor oil (60 ml) diluted in orange juice versus no treatment.	All women: Caesarean birth: 19% versus 8.3%, RR 2.31 (95% CI 0.77 to 6.87) Meconium-stained liquor: 9.6% versus 12.5%, RR 0.77, (95% CI 0.25 to 2.36) 5 minute Apgar score < 7: no data Nausea with ingestion of castor oil: RR 97.08 (95% CI 6.16 to 1530.41)	Source of Funding: no funding
Kavanagh (2001) ¹⁶⁵	Study Type: Systematic review/meta-analysis Evidence Level: 1++	Total number of women = 28	1 RCT, 56 women with > 39 weeks of gestation Bishop score and parity unknown (paper in Dutch).	Sexual intercourse for 3 consecutive nights with vaginal sperm deposit versus no sexual intercourse.	5 minute Apgar score < 7: 0% versus 0% Mean change in Bishop score: 1.0 versus versus 0.5 (p,0.05) Women delivered within 3 days of intervention: 46% versus 47%, RR 0.99 (95% CI 0.45 to 2.20)	Source of Funding: CESU, RCOG, London UK EPPI-Centre, IOE, London UK
Kavanagh (2005) ¹⁶⁹	Study Type: Systematic review/meta-analysis Evidence level: 1++	Total number of women = 719	6 RCTs, 719 pregnant women (low and high risk), due for 3rd trimester induction of labour carrying a viable fetus, Bishop score 5–7, mixed parity.	Breast stimulation versus no breast stimulation or oxytocin infusion.	In all women: Caesarean births (1 RCT): 9% versus 10%, RR 0.90 (95% CI 0.38 to 2.12) Achieving labour within 72 hours (4 RCTs): 63% vs 94% (RR 5.79, 95% CI 3.41 to 9.81) Perinatal death (1 RCT):1.8% versus 0%, RR 8.17 (95% CI 0.45 to 147.76) Meconium staining (2 RCTs): 25.6% versus 30%, RR 0.85 (95% CI 0.56 to 1.28) Post-partum haemorrhage (2 RCTs): 0.7% versus 6%, RR 0.16 (95% CI 0.03 to 0.87) Women's satisfaction: NS	Source of Funding: CESU, RCOG, London UK; EPPI-Centre, IOE, London.

5.3 Surgical methods

This section was updated and replaced in 2021. Please see the NICE website for the updated guideline.

6 Setting and timing for induction of labour

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
Oei (2000) ¹⁷⁸	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total women = 126	Women at term (Bishop score < 6) scheduled for induction of	Endocervical PGE ₂ gel 0.5 mg in morning between	Delivery between 18.00 and 08.00 hours: 9 versus 9 (NS) Vacuum/forceps delivery in nulliparous women: 3 versus 19 (RR 4.2, 95%	Source of Funding: not reported
Country: The Netherlands	Evidence Level: 1+	Endocervical PGE ₂ gel 0.5 mg in morning between 0.800 – 0900 hours	I labour.	0.800 – 0900 vs endocervical PGE ₂ gel 0.5 mg in evening between 22.00 –23.00 hours.	CI 1.4 to 13) CS: 7 versus 5 (NS) Maternal satisfaction: 77% versus 62% Report of bad sleep: 34% versus 73%, RR 1.7 (95% CI 1.1 to 2.5) Would choose the same time of induction in next pregnancy: 8% versus 23%, RR 2.4 (95% CI 0.86 to 6.6)	Randomisation using random number table, concealment by means of sequentially numbered sealed envelopes, power calculation.
		n = 58 Endocervical PGE ₂ gel 0.5 mg in evening between 22.00 – 23.00 hours n = 68				
Dodd (2006)177	Study Type: Randomised	Total number of women = 620	Women at = 36 +6 weeks of	Morning admission	Achieving vaginal birth within 24 hours: 43% versus 44% (NS)	Source of Funding: Royal
Country: Australia			gestation	versus	(NS)	& Gynae
	Evidence level: 1+	Morning admission (0800 hours) for induction of labour n = 280		evening admission (2000 hours) for induction.	Caesarean birth: 22% versus 26% (NS) Women's satisfaction: disliked lack of sleep: 0.4% vs 4.4% (RR 0.08, 95% CI 0.01 to 0.61) Maternal complications: NS Fetal complications: NS	Computer generated randomisation, not blinded, power calculation.
		Evening admission (2000 hours) for induction of labour n = 340				
Biem (2003) ¹⁷⁴	Study Type: Randomised	Total number of	Women at term (~ 80%	Out patient induction of	Delivery by 24 hours:77% versus 71% (NS)	Source of Funding: Not
Country: Canada		wunien – Suu	of = 6.	release PGE ₂ versus	CS: 23% versus 25% (NS)	reported
	Evidence level: 1+	Out patient induction of labour with controlled-release		inpatient induction of labour with controlled-release PGE ₂ .	Apgar score at 5 minutes (median): 8.81 versus 8.71 (NS)	Computer generated randomisation, no power calculation.

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Number of patients	Patient characteristics	Intervention and comparison	Follow-up and outcome measures effect size	Reviewer comments
		PGE₂ <i>n</i> = 150				
		Inpatient abour induction with controlled-release PGE ₂ n = 150				
Somerset (1995) ¹⁷⁹	Study Type: CohortTotal number of women = 80Evidence level: 2+Induction of labour with vaginal PGE2 gel 2 mg inserted at 1400 hours $n = 40$	Women at 37–42 weeks of gestation scheduled for	Induction of labour with vaginal PGE ₂ gel 2 mg	Forceps birth: 27% versus 33% (NS) CS: 10% versus 25% (NS)	Source of Funding: not reported	
Country: UK		Induction of labour with vaginal PGE ₂ gel 2 mg inserted at 1400 hours n = 40	Induction of labour	inserted at 1400 hours versus induction of labour with vaginal PGE ₂ gel 2 mg inserted at 2200 hours	Days in hospital: 4.4 versus 5.3 ($P < 0.01$) Total costs of admission (£): 1461 versus1811 ($P = 0.01$)	
		Induction of labour with vaginal PGE ₂ gel 2 mg inserted at 2200 hours n = 40				
Sciscione (2001) ¹⁷⁵	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial	Total number of women = 111	Women at term and a Bishop score < 5.	Outpatient cervical priming with transcervical Foley	Change in Bishop score: 3.0 versus 3.0 (NS) CS: 29% versus 43% (NS)	Source of Funding: not reported
County. 03	Evidence level: 1+ Outpatien priming wi transcervi catheter n = 61	Outpatient cervical priming with transcervical Foley catheter $n = 61$		inpatient cervical priming with transcervical Foley catheter.	Apgar score at 5 minutes: 0 versus 8.0 (NS) Maternal discomfort (1–10 visual analogue scale, 1 being no discomfort and 10 worst pain): 4.8 (2.4) versus 3.9 (2.3) (NS)	Computer generated randomisation, no power calculation.
		Inpatient cervical priming with transcervical Foley catheter n = 50				

7 Monitoring and pain relief for induction of labour

7.2 Pain relief during induction of labour

Bibliographic Information	Study type and evidence level	Aim of study	Number of patients and patient characteristics	Population characteristics	Outcome measures	Reviewer comments
Chen (2000) ¹⁸²	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial		Total number of women = 120	Women undergoing induction of labour.	CS: Groups A, B and C: 17% versus 15% versus 29% Group A vs B [NS]; Group A vs C, $P = 0.09$; Group B vs C, $P = 0.05$	Funding: National Science Council, Republic of China
Country: Taiwan Evid	Evidence level: 1+	+	Epidural (fentanyl)anto relieve early first stage of labour pain during the early period of the first stage of induced labour (IV oxytocin) n = 60 (Group A)		Pain scores (VAS visual analogue scale): Lower in group A than in group B and C (<i>P</i> < 0.001) Duration of labour: early first stage: Groups A vs B vs C (NS) Apgar score at 5 minutes: Groups A vs B vs C (NS) Quality of analgesia rated as 'excellent': Group A 80% vs Group B 0% (<i>P</i> < 0.001)	Methods of randomisation not reported, no power calculation.
			No epidural (fentanyl)to relieve early first stage of labour pain during the early period of the first stage of induced labour (IV oxytocin) n = 60 (Group B)			
			Convenience control sample (no analgesia during entire labour course) <i>n</i> = 198 (Group C)			
Balladur (1989) ¹⁸³	Study Type: Randomised controlled trial		Total number of women = 88	Women at term (37 - 42 weeks of gestation)	Duration of labour (mins): Primiparous: 445	Funding: not stated
Country: France	Evidence level: 1+		Epidural (fentanyl) started at beginning of induction <i>n</i> = 41	undergoing induction (oxytocin).	Multiparous: 213 Primiparous: 360 ($P < 0.05$) Multiparous: 282 ($P < 0.05$)	Methods of randomisation not reported No power calculation
			Epidural (fentanyl) once labour became 'active'		Forceps birth: 6 versus 9 CS: 2 versus 4	

Bibliographic Information	Study type and evidence level	Aim of study	Number of patients and patient characteristics	Population characteristics	Outcome measures	Reviewer comments
			n = 47		Assisted births: 0 versus 4	
Capogna (2001) ¹⁸¹	Study Type: Cohort	To compare analgesia requirement of women	Total number of women = 61	Women (= 37 weeks of gestation with cervical	Minimum analgesic dose of sufentanil: 22.2 µg (95% Cl 19.6 to 22.8)	Funding: not stated
Country: Italy	Evidence level: 2+	in spontaneous labour and in induced labour	Spontaneous labour n = 30	dilation 2–4 cm) requesting epidural pain relief in labour.	27.3 μg (95% Cl 23.8 to 30.9) (<i>P</i> = 0.0014) by a factor of 1.3 (95% Cl 1.1 to 1.5)	Prospsective, double-blind study, sequential allocation: to reduce bias from confounders.
			Induction of labour (with PGE ₂)		Duration of analgesia: 88 minutes versus 95 minutes (NS)	
			<i>n</i> = 31		Sedation (measured by VAS): 55 (34–70) versus 70 (50–80) (<i>P</i> = 0.024)	
					Nausea (measured by VAS): 0 versus 1 (NS)	
					Matemal hypotension(< 90 mmHg): 0 versus 3 (NS)	

Complications of induction of labour

8.1 Uterine hyperstimulation

Bibliographic details	Study type and evidence level	Aim of study	Number of patients and patient characteristics	Population characteristics	Outcome measures	Reviewer comments
Egarter (1990) ¹⁸⁵	Study Type: Other Evidence level:	To review the frequency of uterine hyperstimulation associated with PGE ₂	Total number of women = 3099	Maternity cases requiring low dose PGE ₂ (vaginal tablet, gel and intracervical gel) therapy for induction of	Uterine hyperstimulation in 181 cases (5.8%) 31.5% had FHR abnormalities Administration of tocolytic treatment with B-adrenergic drugs (hexoprenaline at 0.3 µg/minute or a single dose of terbutaline 250 µg	Source of Funding: not reported Uterine hyperstimulation defined as contraction frequency was
	3	use and describe the therapeutic effects of B2-adrenergic tocolytic therapy.		labour.	intravenously or subcutaneously): Uterine contractions normalised and reversing any FHR abnormality in 178 cases (98.3%) Caesarean : 3 postpartum complications: 0	more than 5 in 10 minutes or if contractions exceeded 2 minutes in duration. Non-comparative study: likelihood of confounders.

References

- 1. Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; RCOG Clinical Effectiveness Support Unit. Induction of labour. Evidence-based Clinical Guideline Number 9. London: RCOG Press; 2001.
- 2. The Information Centre CHS. NHS Maternity Statistics, England: 2004–05. Leeds: The Information Centre; 2006.
- 3. NHS Executive. Clinical Guidelines: Using Clinical Guidelines to Improve Patient Care Within the NHS. London: HMSO; 1996.
- 4. National Institute for Clinical Excellence. *Guideline Development Methods: Information for National Collaborating Centres and Guideline Developers*. London: National Institute for Clinical Excellence; 2005.
- 5a. Oxman AD, Sackett DL, Guyatt GH. Users' guides to the medical literature. I. How to get started. The Evidence-Based Medicine Working Group. JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association 1993;270(17):2093–5.
- 5b. Guyatt GH, Sackett DL, Cook DJ. Users' guides to the medical literature. II. How to use an article about therapy or prevention. A. Are the results of the study valid? Evidence-Based Medicine Working Group. *JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association* 1993;270(21):2598–601.
- 6. Guyatt GH, Sackett DL, Cook DJ. Users' guides to the medical literature. II. How to use an article about therapy or prevention. B. What were the results and will they help me in caring for my patients? Evidence-Based Medicine Working Group. *JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association* 1994;271(1):59–63.
- 7. Jaeschke R, Guyatt G, Sackett DL. Users' guides to the medical literature. III. How to use an article about a diagnostic test. A. Are the results of the study valid? Evidence-Based Medicine Working Group. *JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association* 1994;271(5):389–91.
- 8. Jaeschke R, Guyatt GH, Sackett DL. Users' guides to the medical literature. III. How to use an article about a diagnostic test. B. What are the results and will they help me in caring for my patients? The Evidence-Based Medicine Working Group. *JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association* 1994;271(9):703–7.
- 9. Sackett DL, Straus SE, Richardson WS, Rosenberg W, Haynes RB. *Evidence-based medicine*. *How to practice and teach EBM*. 2nd ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 2000.
- 10. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. A Guideline Developers' Handbook. No. 50. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2001.
- 11. Drummond MF, Sculpher M, Torrance GW, O'Brien BJ, Stoddart GL. *Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes*. 3rd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- 12. Department of Health. Changing Childbirth: Part 2 Survey of Good Communications Practice in Maternity Services. London: HMSO; 1993.
- 13. Stewart P. Patients' attitudes to induction and labour. British Medical Journal 1977;(6089)749-52.
- 14. Cartwright A. Mothers' experiences of induction. *British Medical Journal* 1977;2(6089):745–9.
- 15. Jacoby A. Womens' preferences for and satisfaction with current procedures in childbirth: findings from a national study. *Midwifery* 1987;3(117):124.
- 16. Shetty A. Women's perceptions, expectations and satisfaction with induced labour a questionnaire-based study. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2005;123(1):56–61.
- 17. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health. *Intrapartum Care: Care of Healthy Women and Their Babies During Childbirth*. London: RCOG Press; 2007.
- 18. Shea KM, Wilcox AJ, Little RE. Postterm delivery: a challenge for epidemiologic research. Epidemiology 1998;9(2):199–204.
- 19. Alexander JM, McIntire DD, Leveno KJ. Forty weeks and beyond: pregnancy outcomes by week of gestation. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2000;96(2):291–4.
- 20. Feldman GB. Prospective risk of stillbirth. Obstetrics and Gynecology 1992;79(4):547-53.
- 21. Hilder L, Costeloe K, Thilaganathan B. Prolonged pregnancy: evaluating gestation-specific risks of fetal and infant mortality. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1998;105(2):169–73.
- 22. Cotzias CS, Paterson-Brown S, Fisk NM. Prospective risk of unexplained stillbirth in singleton pregnancies at term: population based analysis. *British Medical Journal* 1999; 319:287–8.
- 23. Votta RA and Cibils LA. Active management of prolonged pregnancy. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1993;168(2):557–63.
- 24. Treger M, Hallak M, Silberstein T, *et al.* Post-term pregnancy: should induction of labor be considered before 42 weeks? *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine* 2002;11(1):50–3.
- 25. Olofsson P and Saldeen P. The prospects for vaginal delivery in gestations beyond 43 weeks. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 1996;75(7):645–50.
- 26. Smith GC. Life-table analysis of the risk of perinatal death at term and post term in singleton pregnancies. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2001;184(3):489–96.
- 27. Olesen AW, Westergaard JG, Olsen J. Perinatal and maternal complications related to postterm delivery: a national register-based study, 1978–1993. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2003;189(1):222–7.
- Heimstad R, Romundstad PR, Eik-Nes SH, et al. Outcomes of pregnancy beyond 37 weeks of gestation. Obstetrics and Gynecology 2006;108(3 Pt 1):500–8.
- 29. Caughey AB and Bishop JT. Maternal complications of pregnancy increase beyond 40 weeks of gestation in low-risk women. *Journal of Perinatology* 2006;26(9):540–5.
- 30. Balchin I, Whittaker JC, Patel RR, *et al.* Racial variation in the association between gestational age and perinatal mortality: prospective study. *British Medical Journal* 2007;334(7598):833.
- 31. Gülmezoglu AM, Crowther CA, Middleton P. Induction of labour for improving birth outcomes for women at or beyond term. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006;(4):CD004945.
- 32. McNellis D, Medearis AL, Fowler S, *et al.* A clinical trial of induction of labor versus expectant management in postterm pregnancy: The National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Network of Maternal-Fetal Medicine Units. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1994;170(3):716–23.
- 33. Hannah ME, Hannah WJ, Hellmann J, *et al.* Induction of labor as compared with serial antenatal monitoring in post-term pregnancy. A randomized controlled trial. The Canadian Multicenter Post-term Pregnancy Trial Group. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1992;326(24):1587–92.

- 34. Heimstad R, Skogvoll E, Mattsson LA, *et al.* Induction of labor or serial antenatal fetal monitoring in postterm pregnancy. a randomized controlled trial. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 2007;109(3):609–17.
- 35. Crowley P. Post-term pregnancy: induction or surveillance? In: Chalmers I, Enkin M, Keirse MJ, editors. *Effective Care in Pregnancy and Childbirth*. 1st ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1989. p. 776–91.
- 36. Roberts LJ, Young KR. The management of prolonged pregnancy an analysis of women's attitudes before and after term. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1991;98(11):1102–6.
- 37. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health. *Antenatal Care: Routine Care for the Healthy Pregnant Woman*. 2nd edition. London: RCOG Press; 2008.
- 38. Simhan HN. Preterm premature rupture of membranes: diagnosis, evaluation and management strategies. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2005; 112 Suppl 1:32–7.
- 39. Helmer H. Continuing challenges in treating preterm labour: Preterm prelabour rupture of the membranes. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2006;113(Suppl 3):111–12.
- 40. Mercer BM, Arheart KL. Antimicrobial therapy in expectant management of preterm premature rupture of the membranes. [erratum appears in *Lancet* 1996;347(8998):410]. *Lancet* 1995;346(8985):1271–9.
- 41. Preterm Prelabour Rupture of Membranes. No. 44, 1–11. London: Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2006.
- 42. Mercer BM, Crocker LG, Boe NM, *et al.* Induction versus expectant management in premature rupture of the membranes with mature amniotic fluid at 32 to 36 weeks: a randomized trial. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1993;169(4):775–82.
- 43. Cox SM. Intentional delivery versus expectant management with preterm ruptured membranes at 30–34 weeks' gestation. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1995;86(6):875–9.
- 44. Naef III RW, Allbert JR, Ross EL, *et al.* Premature rupture of membranes at 34 to 37 weeks' gestation: Aggressive versus conservative management. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1998;178(1 1):126–30.
- 45. Frohn WE, Simmons S, Carlan SJ. Prostaglandin E2 gel versus misoprostol for cervical ripening in patients with premature rupture of membranes after 34 weeks. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2002;99(2):206–10.
- 46. Haghighi L. Intravaginal misoprostol in preterm premature rupture of membranes with low Bishop scores. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 2006;94(2):121–2.
- 47. Neerhof MG. Timing of labor induction after premature rupture of membranes between 32 and 36 weeks' gestation. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1999;180(2 Pt 1):349–52.
- 48. Hannah ME, Seaward GR. Prelabour rupture of membranes at term: The role of induction of labour. *Fetal and Maternal Medicine Review* 1998;10(2):61–8.
- 49. Duff P. Premature rupture of the membranes in term patients: Induction of labor versus expectant management. *Clinical Obstetrics* and *Gynecology* 1998;41(4):883–91.
- 50. Gunn GC, Mishell DR, Morton DG. Premature rupture of the fetal membranes: A review. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1970;106(3):469–83.
- 51. Cammu H, Verlaenen H, Perde MP. Premature rupture of membranes at term in nulliparous women: a hazard? *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1990;76(4):671–4.
- 52. Duff P. Premature rupture of the membranes in term patients. Seminars in Perinatology 1996;20(5):401-8.
- 53. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. *Intrauterine Growth Restriction*. Washington DC: ACOG; 2000. [Summary retrieved from National Guideline Clearinghouse, www.guideline.gov, on 10 July 2007].
- 54. Tan TYT. Intrauterine growth restriction. Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology 2005;17(2):135-42.
- 55. Harkness UF. Diagnosis and management of intrauterine growth restriction. Clinics in Perinatology 2004;31(4):743-64.
- 56. Haram K. Intrauterine growth restriction. International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics 2006;93(1):5–12.
- 57. GRIT Study Group. A randomised trial of timed delivery for the compromised preterm fetus: short term outcomes and Bayesian interpretation. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2003;110(1):27–32.
- 58. Thornton JG, Hornbuckle J, Vail A, *et al.* Infant wellbeing at 2 years of age in the Growth Restriction Intervention Trial (GRIT): multicentred randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2004;364(9433):513–20.
- 59. van den Hove MM. Intrauterine growth restriction at term: induction or spontaneous labour? Disproportionate intrauterine growth intervention trial at term (DIGITAT): a pilot study. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2006;125(1):54–8.
- 60. Chilaka VN, Cole MY, Habayeb OM, *et al.* Risk of uterine rupture following induction of labour in women with a previous caesarean section in a large UK teaching hospital. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2004;24(3):264–5.
- *61.* Kayani SI. Uterine rupture after induction of labour in women with previous caesarean section. [erratum appears in *BJOG* 2005;112(4):528]. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2005;112(4):451–5.
- 62. Smith GC. Factors predisposing to perinatal death related to uterine rupture during attempted vaginal birth after caesarean section: retrospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal* 2004;329(7462):375.
- 63. Landon MB, Hauth JC, Leveno KJ, *et al.* Maternal and perinatal outcomes associated with a trial of labor after prior cesarean delivery. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2004;351(25):2581–9.
- 64. Grobman WA, Gilbert S, Landon MB, et al. Outcomes of induction of labor after one prior cesarean. Obstetrics and Gynecology 2007;109(2 Part 1):262–9.
- 65. Dodd JM. Elective repeat caesarean section versus induction of labour for women. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006;(4):CD004906.
- 66. Dodd J, Crowther C. Induction of labour for women with a previous Caesarean birth: a systematic review of the literature. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2004;44(5):392–5.
- 67. McDonagh MS, Osterweil P, Guise JM. The benefits and risks of inducing labour in patients with prior caesarean delivery: a systematic review. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2005;112(8):1007–15.
- 68. Vause S, Macintosh M. Evidence based case report: Use of prostaglandins to induce labour in women with a caesarean section scar. *British Medical Journal* 1999;318(7190):1056–8.
- 69. Lelaidier C, Baton C, Benifla JL, *et al.* Mifepristone for labour induction after previous caesarean section. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1994;101(6):501–3.
- Taylor AVG, Sellers S, Ah-Moye M, *et al.* A prospective random allocation trial to compare vaginal prostaglandin E2 with intravenous oxytocin for labour induction in women previously delivered by caesarean section. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1993; 13:333–6.
- 71. Wing DA, Lovett K, Paul RH. Disruption of prior uterine incision following misoprostol for labor induction in women with previous cesarean delivery. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1998;91(5):828–30.

- 72. Rayburn WF, Gittens LN, Lucas MJ, *et al.* Weekly administration of prostaglandin E2 gel compared with expectant management in women with previous cesareans. Prepidil Gel Study Group. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1999;94(2):250–4.
- 73. Mahon TR, Chazotte C, Cohen WR. Short labor: characteristics and outcome. Obstetrics and Gynecology 1994;84(1):47–51.
- 74. Erkkola R, Nikkanen V. Precipitate labour. Annales Chirurgiae et Gynaecologiae 1978;67(4):150-3.
- 75. Homer CSE, Davis GK. Can elective labour induction be woman-centred? British Journal of Midwifery 1999;7(11):686–9.
- 76. Cartwright A. *Dignity of Labour: Study of Childbearing and Induction*. London: Tavistock; 1979.
- 77. Oakley A. The Captured Womb: a History of the Medical Care of Pregnant Women. Oxford: Blackwell; 1984.
- 78. Out JJ, Vierhout ME, Verhage F, *et al.* Characteristics and motives of women choosing elective induction of labour. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1986;30(3):375–80.
- 79. Breart G, Goujard J, Maillard F, *et al.* [Comparison of 2 obstetrical attitudes vis-a-vis inducing labor at term. Randomized study]. [French]. *Journal de Gynecologie, Obstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction* 1982;11(1):107–12.
- 80. Cole RA, Howie PW, Macnaughton MC. Elective induction of labour. A randomised prospective trial. Lancet 1975;1(7910):767–70.
- 81. Egarter C, Kofler E, Fitz R, *et al.* Is induction of labor indicated in prolonged pregnancy? Results of a prospective randomised trial. *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation* 1989;27(1):6–9.
- Alarab M. Singleton vaginal breech delivery at term: Still a safe option. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2004;103(3):407–12.
 Hofmeyr GJ, Hannah ME. Planned caesarean section for term breech delivery. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*
- Hormeyr G, Hannan ME. Planned caesarean section for term breech delivery. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2000;(2):CD000166.
- 84. Hannah ME, Hannah WJ, Hewson SA, *et al.* Planned caesarean section versus planned vaginal birth for breech presentation at term: a randomised multicentre trial. *Lancet* 2000; 356:1375–83.
- 85. Fait G. Can labor with breech presentation be induced? *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation* 1998;46(3):181–6.
- 86. Rojansky N. Induction of labor in breech presentation. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics 2001;74(2):151–6.
- 87. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health. Caesarean Section. London: RCOG Press; 2004.
- 88. Silver RM. Fetal death. Obstetrics and Gynecology 2007;109(1):153-67.
- 89. Diagnosis and management of fetal death. ACOG Technical Bulletin Number 176 January 1993. International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics 1993;42(3):291–9.
- *90.* Cabrol D. Induction of labor with mifepristone (RU 486) in intrauterine fetal death. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1990;163(2):540–2.
- 91. Nyende L. Comparison of vaginal and oral misoprostol, for the induction of labour in women with intra-uterine foetal death. *East African Medical Journal* 2004;81(4):179–82.
- 92. Chittacharoen A. A randomized trial of oral and vaginal misoprostol to manage delivery in cases of fetal death. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2003;101(1):70–3.
- 93. Fairley TE. Management of late intrauterine death using a combination of mifepristone and misoprostol experience of two regimens. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2005;118(1):28–31.
- 94. De Heus R, Graziosi GC, Christiaens GC, *et al.* Medical management for termination of second and third trimester pregnancies: a comparison of strategies. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2004;116(1):16–21.
- 95. Wagaarachchi PT, Ashok PW, Narvekar NN, *et al.* Medical management of late intrauterine death using a combination of mifepristone and misoprostol. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2002;109(4):443–7.
- 96. Bugalho A. Induction of labor with intravaginal misoprostol in intrauterine fetal death. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1994;171(2):538–41.
- 97. Fawole AO, Adekunle AO, Sotiloye OS, *et al.* Experience with intravaginal misoprostol in the management of intra-uterine fetal death. *African Journal of Medicine and Medical Sciences* 2004;33(2):105–8.
- 98. Ngai SW, Tang OS, Ho PC. Prostaglandins for induction of second-trimester termination and intrauterine death. *Best Practice and Research in Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2003;17(5):765–75.
- 99. Gómez Ponce de León R, Wing D, Fiala C. Misoprostol for intrauterine fetal death. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics* 2007;99 Suppl 2:S190–3.
- 100. Chapman SJ, Crispens M, Owen J, *et al.* Complications of midtrimester pregnancy termination: The effect of prior cesarean delivery. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1996;175(4 I):889–92.
- 101. Boulot P, Hoffet M, Bachelard B, *et al.* Late vaginal induced abortion after a previous cesarean birth: potential for uterine rupture. *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation* 1993;36(2):87–90.
- *102.* Delpapa EH, Mueller-Heubach E. Pregnancy outcome following ultrasound diagnosis of macrosomia. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1991; 78:340–3.
- 103. Salim R, Nachum Z, Moscovici R, *et al.* Continuous compared with intermittent epidural infusion on progress of labor and patient satisfaction. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2005;106(2):301–6.
- 104. Mulik V, Usha Kiran TS, Bethal J, *et al.* The outcome of macrosomic fetuses in a low risk primigravid population. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics* 2003;80(1):15–22.
- 105. Perlow JH, Wigton T, Hart J, *et al.* Birth trauma. A five-year review of incidence and associated perinatal factors. *Journal of Reproductive Medicine* 1996;41(10):754–60.
- 106. Chauhan SP, Grobman WA, Gherman RA, *et al.* Suspicion and treatment of the macrosomic fetus: a review. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2005;193(2):332–46.
- *107.* Irion O, Boulvain M. Induction of labour for suspected fetal macrosomia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2000;(2):CD000938.
- 108. Sanchez-Ramos L. Expectant management versus labor induction for suspected fetal macrosomia: a systematic review. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2002;100(5 Pt 1):997–1002.
- 109. Kelly AJ, Kavanagh J, Thomas J. Vaginal prostaglandin (PGE2 and PGF2a) for induction of labour at term. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2003;(4):CD003101.
- 110. El-Shawarby SA, Connell RJ. Induction of labour at term with vaginal prostaglandins preparations: a randomised controlled trial of Prostin vs Propess. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2006;26(7):627–30.
- 111. Joint Formulary Committee. *British National Formulary*. 54th ed. London: British Medical Association and Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain; 2007.
- 113. French L. Oral prostaglandin E2 for induction of labour. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2001;(2):CD003098.
- *114.* Luckas M, Bricker L. Intravenous prostaglandin for induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2000;(4):CD002864.

- 115. Hutton E, Mozurkewich E. Extra-amniotic prostaglandin for induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001;(2):CD003092.
- *116.* Boulvain M, Kelly A, Irion O. Intracervical prostaglandins for induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008;(1):CD006971.
- *117.* Kelly AJ, Tan B. Intravenous oxytocin alone for cervical ripening and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001;(3):CD003246.
- *118.* Howarth GR, Botha DJ. Amniotomy plus intravenous oxytocin for induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001;(3):CD003250.
- 119. Alfirevic Z, Weeks A. Oral misoprostol for induction of labour. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006;(2):CD001338.
- 120. Paungmora N. Comparison of oral and vaginal misoprostol for induction of labor at term: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research* 2004;30(5):358–62.
- 121. Kipikasa JH, Adair CD, Williamson J, *et al.* Use of misoprostol on an outpatient basis for postdate pregnancy. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 2005;88(2):108–11.
- 122. Gherman RB. Oral misoprostol vs. intravaginal prostaglandin E2 for preinduction cervical ripening. A randomized trial. *Journal of Reproductive Medicine* 2001;46(7):641–6.
- 123. Bricker L, Peden H, Tomlinson AJ, Al-Hussaini TK, Idama T, Candelier C, *et al.* Titrated low dose misoprostol to induce labor for prelabor membrane rupture: a randomized trial. 2007 [unpublished].
- 124. Hofmeyr GJ, Gulmezoglu AM. Vaginal misoprostol for cervical ripening and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2003;(1):CD000941.
- 125. Papanikolaou EG. Comparison of misoprostol and dinoprostone for elective induction of labour in nulliparous women at full term: a randomized prospective study. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 2004;2:70.
- 126. Ramsey PS. Cardiotocographic abnormalities associated with dinoprostone and misoprostol cervical ripening. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2005;105(1):85–90.
- 127. Gregson S, Waterstone M, Norman I, *et al.* A randomised controlled trial comparing low dose vaginal misoprostol and dinoprostone vaginal gel for inducing labour at term. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2005;112(4):438–44.
- 128. Alliance. *Results of Phase III Clinical Trials Comparing Intravaginal Misoprostol with Dinoprostone in the Induction of Labour.* Chippenham: Alliance; 2007.
- 129. Zeteroglu S, Sahin GH, Sahin HA. Induction of labor with misoprostol in pregnancies with advanced maternal age. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology 2006;129(2):140–4.
- 130. de Aquino MM, Cecatti JG. Misoprostol versus oxytocin for labor induction in term and post-term pregnancy: randomized controlled trial. *Sao Paulo Medical Journal* 2003;121(3):102–6.
- 131. Zeteroglu S, Sahin HG, Sahin HA. Induction of labor in great grandmultipara with misoprostol. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2006;126(1):27–32.
- 132. Ozsoy M. Induction of labor with 50 and 100 microg of misoprostol: comparison of maternal and fetal outcomes. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2004;113(1):41–4.
- 133. Chanrachakul B. Randomized trial of isosorbide mononitrate versus misoprostol for cervical ripening at term. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 2002;78(2):139–45.
- 134. Muzonzini G, Hofmeyr GJ. Buccal or sublingual misoprostol for cervical ripening and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2004;(4):CD004221.
- 135. Crane JM, Butler B, Young DC, *et al.* Misoprostol compared with prostaglandin E2 for labour induction in women at term with intact membranes and unfavourable cervix: a systematic review. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2006;113(12):1366–76.
- 136. Neilson JP. Mifepristone for induction of labour. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2000;(4):CD002865.
- 137. Zhang A, Leng W, Zhang X, *et al.* Effect of mifepristone on ultrastructure of fetal kidney in second trimester of pregnancy. *Journal of Jilin University* 2006;32(5):854–7.
- 138. Kavanagh J, Kelly AJ, Thomas J. Hyaluronidase for cervical ripening and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006 Apr 19;(2):CD003097.
- 139. Kavanagh J, Kelly AJ, Thomas J. Corticosteroids for cervical ripening and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006;(2):CD003100.
- 140. Thomas J, Kelly AJ, Kavanagh J. Oestrogens alone or with amniotomy for cervical ripening or induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001;(4):CD003393.
- 141. Chanrachakul B. Randomized comparison of glyceryl trinitrate and prostaglandin E2 for cervical ripening at term. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2000;96(4):549–53.
- 142. Bullarbo M. Outpatient vaginal administration of the nitric oxide donor isosorbide mononitrate for cervical ripening and labor induction postterm: a randomized controlled study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2007;196(1):50–2.
- 143. Osman I. The 'PRIM' study: a randomized comparison of prostaglandin E2 gel with the nitric oxide donor isosorbide mononitrate for cervical ripening before the induction of labor at term. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2006;194(4):1012–21.
- 144. Thiery M, Baines CJ, Keirse MJNC. The development of methods for inducing labour. In: Chalmers I, Enkin M, Keirse MJ, editors. *Effective Care in Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2000. p. 969–80.
- 145. Keirse MJ, Thiery M, Parewijck W, *et al.* Chronic stimulation of uterine prostaglandin synthesis during cervical ripening before the onset of labor. *Prostaglandins* 1983;25(5):671–82.
- 146. Boulvain M, Stan C, Irion O. Membrane sweeping for induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2005;(1):CD000451.
- 147. Cammu H, Haitsma V. Sweeping of the membranes at 39 weeks in nulliparous women: a randomised controlled trial. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1998;105(1):41–4.
- 148. Berghella V, Rogers RA, Lescale K. Stripping of membranes as a safe method to reduce prolonged pregnancies. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1996;87(6):927–31.
- 149. Wiriyasirivaj B, Vutyavanich T, Ruangsri RA. A randomized controlled trial of membrane stripping at term to promote labor. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1996;87(5 Pt 1):767–70.
- 150. Magann EF, McNamara MF, Whitworth NS, *et al.* Can we decrease postdatism in women with an unfavorable cervix and a negative fetal fibronectin test result at term by serial membrane sweeping? *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1998;179(4):890–4.
- 151. de Miranda E, Van Der Bom JG, Bonsel GJ, *et al.* Membrane sweeping and prevention of post-term pregnancy in low-risk pregnancies: a randomised controlled trial. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2006;113(4):402–8.

- 152. Magann EF, Chauhan SP, McNamara MF, *et al.* Membrane sweeping versus dinoprostone vaginal insert in the management of pregnancies beyond 41 weeks with an unfavorable cervix. *Journal of Perinatology* 1999;19(2):88–91.
- 153. Magann EF, Chauhan SP, Nevils BG, *et al.* Management of pregnancies beyond forty-one weeks' gestation with an unfavorable cervix. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1998;178(6):1279–87.
- 154. Boulvain M, Fraser WD, Marcoux S, *et al.* Does sweeping of the membranes reduce the need for formal induction of labour? A randomised controlled trial. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1998; 105:34–40.
- 155. Dare FO, Oboro VO. The role of membrane stripping in prevention of post-term pregnancy: a randomised clinical trial in Ile-Ife, Nigeria. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2002;22(3):283–6.
- 156. Allott HA, Palmer CR. Sweeping the membranes: a valid procedure in stimulating the onset of labour? *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1993;100(10):898–903.
- 157. el-Torkey M, Grant JM. Sweeping of the membranes is an effective method of induction of labour in prolonged pregnancy: a report of a randomized trial. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1992;99(6):455–8.
- 158. Tempfer C, Zeisler H, Heinzl H, *et al.* Influence of acupuncture on maternal serum levels of interleukin-8, prostaglandin F2alpha, and beta-endorphin: a matched pair study. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1998;92(2):245–8.
- 159. Smith CA, Crowther CA. Acupuncture for induction of labour. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2004;(1):CD002962.
- 160. Harper TC, Coeytaux RR, Chen W, *et al.* A randomized controlled trial of acupuncture for initiation of labor in nulliparous women. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine* 2006;19(8):465–70.
- 161. Priestman KG. A few useful remedies in pregnancy, labour and the first few days of the babies' life. *British Homeopathy Journal* 1988; 77:172–3.
- 162. Smith CA. Homoeopathy for induction of labour. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2003;(4):CD003399.
- 163. Kelly AJ, Kavanagh J, Thomas J. Castor oil, bath and/or enema for cervical priming and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001;(2):CD003099.
- 164. Azhari S. Evaluation of the effect of castor oil on initiating labor in term pregnancy. Saudi Medical Journal 2006;27(7):1011-14.
- 165. Kavanagh J, Kelly AJ, Thomas J. Sexual intercourse for cervical ripening and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001;(2):CD003093.
- 166. Amico JA, Finley BE. Breast stimulation in cycling women, pregnant women and a woman with induced lactation: pattern of release of oxytocin, prolactin and luteinizing hormone. *Clinical Endocrinology* 1986;25(2):97–106.
- 167. Christensson K, Nilsson BA, Stock S, *et al.* Effect of nipple stimulation on uterine activity and on plasma levels of oxytocin in full term, healthy, pregnant women. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 1989;68(3):205–10.
- *168.* Damania KK, Natu U, Mhatre PN, *et al.* Evaluation of two methods employed for cervical ripening. *Journal of Postgraduate Medicine* 1992;38(2):58–9.
- 169. Kavanagh J, Kelly AJ, Thomas J. Breast stimulation for cervical ripening and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2005;(3):CD003392.
- 170. Bricker L, Luckas M. Amniotomy alone for induction of labour. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2000;(4):CD002862.
- 171. Boulvain M, Kelly A, Lohse C, Stan C, Irion O. Mechanical methods for induction of labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001;(4):CD001233.
- 172. Afolabi BB, Oyeneyin OL, Ogedengbe OK. Intravaginal misoprostol versus Foley catheter for cervical ripening and induction of labor. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 2005;89(3):263–7.
- 173. Chung JH, Huang WH, Rumney PJ, *et al.* A prospective randomized controlled trial that compared misoprostol, Foley catheter, and combination misoprostol-Foley catheter for labor induction. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2003;189(4):1031–5.
- 174. Biem SR, Turnell RW, Olatunbosun. A randomized controlled trial of outpatient versus inpatient labour induction with vaginal controlled-release prostaglandin-E2: effectiveness and satisfaction. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada: JOGC* 2003;25(1):23–31.
- 175. Sciscione AC. Transcervical Foley catheter for preinduction cervical ripening in an outpatient versus inpatient setting. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2001;98(5 Pt 1):751–6.
- 176. Neale E, Pachulski. Outpatient cervical ripening prior to induction of labour. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2002;22(6):634-5.
- 177. Dodd JM, Crowther CA, Robinson JS. Morning compared with evening induction of labor: a nested randomized controlled trial. A nested randomized controlled trial. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2006;108(2):350–60.
- 178. Oei SG, Jongmans L, Mol BWJ. Randomized trial of administration of prostaglandin E2 gel for induction of labor in the morning or the evening. *Journal of Perinatal Medicine* 2000;28(1):20–5.
- 179. Somerset DA. Induction of labour using prostaglandin E2 gel: the effect of changing the time of first insertion. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 1995;88(2):105P–7P.
- 180. Schwarcz RL, Belizan JM, Cifuentes JR, *et al.* Fetal and maternal monitoring in spontaneous labors and in elective inductions. A comparative study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1974;120(3):356–62.
- 181. Capogna G. Minimum analgesic dose of epidural sufentanil for first-stage labor analgesia: a comparison between spontaneous and prostaglandin-induced labors in nulliparous women. *Anesthesiology* 2001;94(5):740–4.
- 182. Chen L-K, Hsu H-W, Lin C-J, *et al.* Effects of epidural fentanyl on labor pain during the early period of the first stage of induced labor in nulliparous women. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association* 2000;99(7):549–53.
- 183. Balladur A. When should epidural analgesia be started in cases of induction of labour? The results of a randomised prospective study. *Journal de Gynecologie, Obstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction* 1989;18(2):249–54.
- 184. Chestnut DH, Vincent Jr RD, McGrath JM, *et al.* Does early administration of epidural analgesia affect obstetric outcome in nulliparous women who are receiving intravenous oxytocin? *Anesthesiology* 1994;80(6):1193–200.
- 185. Egarter CH, Husslein PW, Rayburn WF. Uterine hyperstimulation after low-dose prostaglandin E2 therapy: tocolytic treatment in 181 cases. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1990;163(3):794–6.
- 186. Rouse DJ. Criteria for failed labor induction: prospective evaluation of a standardized protocol. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2000;96(5 Pt 1):671–7.
- 187. Simon CE, Grobman WA. When has an induction failed? Obstetrics and Gynecology 2005;105(4):705-9.
- 188. Rayburn WF. Prostaglandin E2 gel for cervical ripening and induction of labor: A critical analysis. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1989;160(3):529–34.
- 189. Bishop EH. Pelvic scoring for elective induction. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1964;24(2):266–8.
- 190. Briggs A, Sculpher M. Commentary: Markov models of medical prognosis. British Medical Journal 1997;314(7077):354-5.

- 191. Thomas J, Paranjothy S, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists: Clinical Effectiveness Support Unit. *The National Sentinel Caesarean Section Audit Report*. London: RCOG Press; 2001.
- 192. Curtis L, Netten A. *Unit Costs of Health and Social Care*. Canterbury: Personal and Social Services Research Unit, University of Kent at Canterbury; 2006.

Other NICE guidelines produced by the National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health include:

- Antenatal care: routine care for the healthy pregnant woman
- Fertility: assessment and treatment for people with fertility problems
- Caesarean section
- Type 1 diabetes: diagnosis and management of type 1 diabetes in children and young people
- Long-acting reversible contraception: the effective and appropriate use of long-acting reversible contraception
- Urinary incontinence: the management of urinary incontinence in women
- Heavy menstrual bleeding
- Feverish illness in children: assessment and initial management in children younger than 5 years
- Urinary tract infection in children: diagnosis, treatment and long-term management
- Intrapartum care: care of healthy women and their babies during childbirth
- Atopic eczema in children: management of atopic eczema in children from birth up to the age of 12 years
- Surgical management of otitis media with effusion in children
- Diabetes in pregnancy: management of diabetes and its complications from preconception to the postnatal period

Guidelines in production include:

- Surgical site infection
- Diarrhoea and vomiting in children under 5
- When to suspect child maltreatment
- Meningitis and meningococcal disease in children
- Neonatal jaundice
- Idiopathic constipation in children
- Hypertension in pregnancy
- Socially complex pregnancies
- Autism in children and adolescents
- Public Health Guidance:
 - Reducing differences in uptake in immunisations
 - Personal, social and health education on sex, relationships and alcohol

Enquiries regarding the above guidelines can be addressed to:

National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health King's Court Fourth Floor 2–16 Goodge Street London W1T 2QA enquiries@ncc-wch.org.uk

A version of this guideline for pregnant women, their partners and the public is available from the NICE website (www.nice.org.uk/CG070) or from NICE publications on 0845 003 7783; quote reference number N1626.



Published by the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. To purchase further copies and for a complete list of RCOG Press titles, visit: www.rcogbookshop.com

